Ion Exchange Safic Proprietary Limited (Registration Number: 2002/009690/07)

Annual Financial Statements For the year ended 31 March 2021



AUDIT • ADVISORY • TAX

Ion Exchange Safic Proprietary Limited (Registration number 2002/009690/07) Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2021

General Information

Country of incorporation and domicile	South Africa
Nature of business and principal activities	Water treatment, liquid waste treatment and recycle, pollution control, solid and hazardous waste management, generation of energy from waste and related matters
Directors	FC Platt G Chakravorty DM Cutter MP Patni EW Platt R Sharma JP Pathare LRR Quinn NM Ranadive
Registered office	Accéntuate Business Park 32 Steele Street Steeledale Johannesburg 2197
Postal address	PO Box 1754 Alberton 1450
Ultimate holding company	Ion Exchange India Limited incorporated in Mumbai, India
Auditors	BDO South Africa Incorporated Registered Auditors
Secretary	Sirkien Van Schalkwyk, Juba Statutory Services
Company registration number	2002/009690/07
Level of assurance	These financial statements have been audited in compliance with section 30(2)(b)(ii) of the Companies Act of South Africa
Preparer	The annual financial statements were internally prepared under the supervision of Luke Quinn Associate Company Financial Director

Ion Exchange Safic Proprietary Limited (Registration number 2002/009690/07) Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2021

Contents

The reports and statements set out below comprise the annual financial statements presented to the shareholders:

Contents	Page		
Statement of Responsibility of the Board of Directors	3		
Report of the Directors	4 - 5		
Independent Auditor's Report	6 - 7		
Statement of Financial Position	8		
Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income	9		
Statement of Changes in Equity	10		
Statement of Cash Flows	11		
Accounting Policies	12 - 23		
Notes to the Annual Financial Statements	24 - 40		
The following supplementary information does not form part of the annual financial statements and is unaudited:			
Detailed Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income	41 - 42		

(Registration number 2002/009690/07) Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2021

Statement of Responsibility of the Board of Directors

The directors are required in terms of the Companies Act of South Africa to maintain adequate accounting records and are responsible for the content and integrity of the annual financial statements and related financial information included in this report. It is their responsibility to ensure that the annual financial statements fairly present the state of affairs of the company as at the end of the financial year and the results of its operations and cash flows for the period then ended, in conformity with International Financial Reporting Standards. The external auditors are engaged to express an independent opinion on the financial statements.

The annual financial statements are prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and are based upon appropriate accounting policies consistently applied and supported by reasonable and prudent judgements and estimates.

The directors acknowledge that they are ultimately responsible for the system of internal financial control established by the company and place considerable importance on maintaining a strong control environment. To enable the directors to meet these responsibilities, the board of directors sets standards for internal control aimed at reducing the risk of error or loss in a cost effective manner. The standards include the proper delegation of responsibilities within a clearly defined framework, effective accounting procedures and adequate segregation of duties to ensure an acceptable level of risk. These controls are monitored throughout the company and all employees are required to maintain the highest ethical standards in ensuring the company's business is conducted in a manner that in all reasonable circumstances is above reproach. The focus of risk management in the company is on identifying, assessing, managing and monitoring all known forms of risk across the company. While operating risk cannot be fully eliminated, the company endeavours to minimise it by ensuring that appropriate infrastructure, controls, systems and ethical behaviour are applied and managed within predetermined procedures and constraints.

The directors are of the opinion, based on the information and explanations given by management, that the system of internal control provides reasonable assurance that the financial records may be relied on for the preparation of the annual financial statements. However, any system of internal financial control can provide only reasonable, and not absolute, assurance against material misstatement or loss.

The directors have reviewed the company's cash flow forecast for the year to 31 March 2022 and, in light of this review and the current financial position, they are satisfied that the company has or had access to adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future.

The external auditors are responsible for independently auditing and reporting on the company's financial statements. The financial statements have been examined by the company's external auditors and their report is presented on pages 6 to 7.

The annual financial statements set out on pages 8 to 40, which have been prepared on the going concern basis, were approved by the board of directors on 12 May 2021 and were signed on their behalf by:

G Chakravorty

EW Platt

(Registration number 2002/009690/07)

Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2021

Report of the Directors

The directors have pleasure in submitting their report on the annual financial statements of Ion Exchange Safic Proprietary Limited for the year ended 31 March 2021.

1. Nature of business

The principal activities of the company are water treatment, liquid waste treatment and recycle, pollution control, solid and hazardous waste management, generation of energy from waste and related matters.

There have been no material changes to the nature of the company's business from the prior year.

2. Review of financial results and activities

The annual financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and the requirements of the Companies Act of South Africa. The accounting policies have been applied consistently compared to the prior year.

Full details of the financial position, results of operations and cash flows of the company are set out in these annual financial statements.

3. Share capital

Ion Exchange India Limited (a company not within South Africa) is the ultimate holding company with 60% shareholding in Ion Exchange Safic Proprietary Limited.

SAFIC Proprietary Limited's (a company incorporated in South Africa) shareholding is 40% in Ion Exchange Safic Propriety Limited.

There have been no changes to the authorised or issued share capital during the year under review.

4. Dividends

No dividends were declared or paid to the shareholders (2020: R Nil).

5. Directorate

The directors in office at the date of this report are as follows:

Directors FC Platt G Chakravorty	Designation Non-Executive Executive	Nationality South African Indian	Changes
DM Cutter MP Patni	Executive Executive	South African Indian	Appointed 01 February 2021
EW Platt	Executive	South African	
R Sharma	Executive	Indian	
JP Pathare	Alternate	Indian	
LRR Quinn	Alternate	South African	Appointed 01 February 2021
NM Ranadive	Alternate	Indian	

6. Directors' interests in share capital of the company

The directors have no interest in the share capital of the company.

7. Directors' interests in contracts

During the financial year, no contracts were entered into which directors or officers of the company had an interest and which significantly affected the business of the company.

8. Events after the reporting period

The directors are not aware of any material event which occurred after the reporting date and up to the date of this report.

(Registration number 2002/009690/07) Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2021

Report of the Directors

9. Going concern

As at 31 March 2021, the company had accumulated losses of R 11 089 443 and the company's total liabilities exceeded its assets by R 10 089 443.

Being aware that the company has an accumulated loss, it's going concern is dependant on a number of factors. The most significant of those factors being:

- Shareholders continue to provide financial support for the foreseeable future, which is not less than 12 months, to ensure settlement of debts, as and when they are due.

- The subordination agreement mentioned in these financial statements will remain in force for as long as it takes to restore the solvency of the company.

Ion Exchange Safic Propriety Limited has secured an overdraft facility to the value of R 5 000 000 and will be renewable on an annual basis by ICICI.

Over and above Ion Exchange India Limited and SAFIC Propriety Limited commit (as per letter of support) to:

- Provide Ion Exchange Safic Propriety Limited with the financial means to meet its obligations of completing the fixed assets commitments and operational cash requirements until cash break even.

- Arrange for Ion Exchange Safic Propriety Limited commitments to its creditors, to be performed in a satisfactory way.

- Exert full influence over Ion Exchange Safic Propriety Limited as well as projects to repay all its creditors on maturity.

Covid-19

Companies globally have been affected by the outbreak of the COVID-19 virus, and Ion Exchange Safic Propriety Limited is no exception.

On 23 March 2020 the President of South Africa announced a lock down, of various levels, of the country for several months from 27 March 2020. In terms of which, all non-essential businesses ceased operations during this period. The products supplied by Ion Exchange Safic are classed as essential goods and serve in the provision of projects related to the provision of water. Management had implemented other measures to manage the risk to its people and business, including international business travel restrictions, self-quarantine for people displaying flu-like symptoms and comprehensive sanitation protocols and hygiene awareness campaigns. There is of course the possibility of further lockdowns and restrictions in the countries in which we have a presence and contingency plans are being formulated to deal with these potential eventualities. As a result, management believes that the company has sufficient shareholder and management support to withstand an interruption to our operations, notwithstanding this, we will continue to work towards minimising the impact of Covid-19 on our operations.

Management assessed the impact of the above on the cash flows of the company and, based on the available information, is satisfied that the group was still able to generate revenue during this period and has sufficient access to cash resources and facilities through arrangements with some of its suppliers and financiers to meet their obligations as and when they become due and payable. The shareholders will be advised of any new developments that may have a material effect on the operations of the group.

10. Auditors

BDO South Africa Incorporated continued in office as company auditors in accordance with the Companies Act of South Africa for the financial year ended 31 March 2021.



Tel: +27 011 488 1700 Fax: +27 010 060 7000 www.bdo.co.za Wanderers Office Park 52 Corlett Drive Illovo, 2196

Private Bag X60500 Houghton, 2041 South Africa

Independent Auditor's Report To the shareholders of Ion Exchange Safic Proprietary Limited

Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of Ion Exchange Safic Proprietary Limited (the company) set out on pages 8 to 40, which comprise the statement of financial position as at 31 March 2021, and the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Ion Exchange Safic Proprietary Limited as at 31 March 2021, and its financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and the requirements of the Companies Act of South Africa.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the company in accordance with the Independent Regulatory Board for Auditors' *Code of Professional Conduct for Registered Auditors* (IRBA Code) and other independence requirements applicable to performing audits of financial statements in South Africa. We have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the IRBA Code and in accordance with other ethical requirements applicable to performing audits in South Africa. The IRBA Code is consistent with the corresponding sections of the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants' International Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (including International Independence Standards). We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Other Information

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information included in the document titled "Ion Exchange Safic Proprietary Limited Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2021", which includes the Directors' Report as required by the Companies Act of South Africa. The other information does not include the financial statements and our auditor's report thereon.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express an audit opinion or any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

BDO South Africa Incorporated Registration number: 1995/002310/21 Practice number: 905526 VAT number: 4910148685

Chief Executive Officer: ME Stewart

A full list of all company directors is available on www.bdo.co.za

The company's principal place of business is at The Wanderers Office Park, 52 Corlett Drive, Illovo, Johannesburg where a list of directors' names is available for inspection. BDO South Africa Incorporated, a South African personal liability company, is a member of BDO International Limited, a UK company limited by guarantee, and forms part of the international BDO network of independent member firms.

6



Responsibilities of the Directors for the Financial Statements

The directors are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and the requirements of the Companies Act of South Africa, and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the company's ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the company or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

- Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.
- Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the company's internal control.
- Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the directors.
- Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors' use of the going concern basis of accounting and based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the company's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor's report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor's report. However, future events or conditions may cause the company to cease to continue as a going concern.
- Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with the directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

800 South Africa Inc.

BDO South Africa Incorporated Registered Auditors

TM Rahiman Director Registered Auditor

12 May 2021

Wanderers Office Park 52 Corlett Drive Illovo, 2196

Statement of Financial Position as at 31 March 2021

	Notes		
		R	R
Assets			
Non-Current Assets			
Property, plant and equipment	3	37 955	50 527
Right-of-use assets	4	607 830	819 823
FEC asset: ROE revaluation	5	-	859 025
Deferred tax	6	598 248	436 482
	1	1 244 033	2 165 857
Current Assets			
Inventories	7	7 010 505	4 067 369
Trade and other receivables	8	2 104 037	3 748 146
Advance payments		-	33 333
Cash and cash equivalents	9	336 604	1 400 745
		9 451 146	9 249 593
Total Assets		10 695 179	11 415 450
Equity and Liabilities			
Equity			
Ordinary share capital and share premium	10	1 000 000	1 000 000
Accumulated loss		(11 089 443)	(11 319 755)
		(10 089 443)	(10 319 755)
Liabilities			
Non-Current Liabilities			
Loans payable	11	3 293 435	2 967 061
Lease liabilities	13	293 693	-
		3 587 128	2 967 061
Current Liabilities			
Short term portion of loan payable	11	301 295	600 000
Trade and other payables	12	11 508 579	12 318 249
Lease liabilities	13	387 620	849 895
Bank overdraft	9	5 000 000	5 000 000
	_	17 197 494	18 768 144
Total Liabilities		20 784 622	21 735 205
Total Equity and Liabilities		10 695 179	11 415 450

Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

		2021	2020 Restated
	Notes	R	R
Revenue	14	19 941 557	16 778 062
Cost of sales		(11 973 543)	(11 030 767)
Gross profit		7 968 014	5 747 295
Other income	15	128 136	577 529
Gain (loss) on exchange rate and sale of assets		214 299	(780 021)
Other operating expenses		(6 925 143)	(6 431 351)
Operating profit (loss)	16	1 385 306	(886 548)
Finance income	17	23 145	44 408
Finance costs	18	(1 339 905)	(1 433 098)
Profit (loss) before taxation		68 546	(2 275 238)
Income tax expense	19	161 766	114 210
Total comprehensive income (loss) for the year		230 312	(2 161 028)

Ion Exchange Safic Proprietary Limited (Registration number 2002/009690/07) Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2021

Statement of Changes in Equity

	Share capital	Share premium	Total share capital	Accumulated loss	Total equity
	R	R	R	R	R
Balance at 01 April 2019	1 000	999 000	1 000 000	(9 158 727)	(8 158 727)
Loss for the year Other comprehensive income	-	-	-	(2 161 028)	(2 161 028)
Total comprehensive Loss for the year	-	-	-	(2 161 028)	(2 161 028)
Balance at 01 April 2020	1 000	999 000	1 000 000	(11 319 755)	(10 319 755)
Profit for the year Other comprehensive income	-	-	-	230 312	230 312
Total comprehensive income for the year	-	-	-	230 312	230 312
Balance at 31 March 2021	1 000	999 000	1 000 000	(11 089 443)	(10 089 443)

Ion Exchange Safic Proprietary Limited (Registration number 2002/009690/07) Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2021

Statement of Cash Flows

Profit (loss) before taxation 68 546 (2 275 236 Adjustments for: Depreciation and amoritation 418 502 201 986 Loss on disposals of assets 471 471 471 Loss (gain) on foreign exchange 859 025 (859 025 (859 025 (23145) (44 406 Finance costs 1 339 905 1 433 095 1 433 095 1 433 095 Changes in working capital: Inventories (2 943 136) (1 587 694 Inventories (2 943 136) (1 587 694 (3 26 227) Advance payments 33 33 33 33 33 Trade and other payables (809 670) 3 956 648 (196 452) (269 284) Interest received 112 252 269 284 (196 456) (196 456) Finance costs (875 613) (975 086) (196 456) (196 456) Net cash from investing activities (3 450) (14 600 (3 450) <th></th> <th>Notes</th> <th>2021 R</th> <th>2020 R</th>		Notes	2021 R	2020 R
Adjustments for:418 502201 985Loss on disposals of assets471Loss on disposals of assets1339 905Finance costs1339 905Changes in working capital:1Inventories(2 943 136)Inventories(2 943 136)Advance payments33 33Trade and other payables(809 670)Stagenerated from operations112 252Interest received23 145Huterest received23 145Huterest received(875 613)Interest received(975 086Net cash from operating activities(740 216)Purchase of property, plant and equipment3Adstop(1 661 397Cash flows from financing activities(3 450)Proceeds from loans payable1 358 000Age payment of loans payable1 358 000Age payment of loans payable(1 678 475)Cash flows from financing activities(320 475)Proceeds from loans payable(1 678 475)Net cash from financing activities(3 20 475)Stage from financing activities(3 20 475)Stage from financing activities <td>Cash flows from operating activities</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td>	Cash flows from operating activities			
Depreciation and amortisation 418 502 201 985 Loss on disposals of assets 471 Loss (gain) on foreign exchange 859 025 (85 025 Interest received (21 145) (44 406 Finance costs 1 339 905 1 433 095 Changes in working capital:	Profit (loss) before taxation		68 546	(2 275 238)
Loss on disposals of assets 471 Loss (gain) on foreign exchange 859 025 Interest received (23 145) Finance costs 1 339 905 Changes in working capital: 1 Inventories (2 943 136) Trade and other receivables 1 644 109 Advance payments 3 3 333 Trade and other payables (809 670) Repayment of lease liabilities (475 688) Cash generated from operations 112 252 Interest received 23 145 Finance costs (740 216) Offer costs (740 216) Ota cash from investing activities (740 216) Purchase of property, plant and equipment 3 (3 450) (14 600 Net cash from financing activities (1 678 475) (2 715 502 Proceeds from loans payable 1 358 000 3 222 334 Repayment of loans payable (1 678 475) (2 715 502 Net cash from financing activities (3 20 475) 506 826 Proceeds from loans payable (1 678 475) (2 715 502 Net cash from financing activities (3 20 475) 506 826 <	Adjustments for:		440 500	004 005
Loss (gain) on foreign exchange 859 025 (859 025 Interest received (23 145) (44 406 Finance costs 1 339 905 1 433 096 Changes in working capital:				201 985
Interest received (23 145) (44 406 Finance costs 1 339 905 1 433 095 Changes in working capital: (2 943 136) (1 587 694 Inventories (2 943 136) (1 587 694 Trade and other receivables 1 644 109 (362 627) Advance payments 3 33 3 - Trade and other payables (809 670) 3 959 642 Repayment of lease liabilities (475 688) (166 455 Cash generated from operations 112 252 269 283 Interest received 23 145 44 406 Finance costs (875 613) (975 086 Net cash from operating activities (740 216) (661 397) Cash flows from investing activities (3 450) (14 600) Net cash from investing activities (3 450) (14 600) Cash flows from financing activities (3 450) (14 600) Purchase of property, plant and equipment 3 (3 450) (14 600) Net cash from investing activities (3 450) (14 600) Proceeds from loans payable (1 578 475) (2 715 506) Net cash from financing activities <				-
Finance costs 1 339 905 1 433 905 Changes in working capital: Inventories (2 943 136) (1 587 694) Trade and other receivables 1 644 109 (362 627) Advance payments 33 333 - Trade and other payables (809 670) 3 959 642 Repayment of lease liabilities (475 688) (106 455) Cash generated from operations 112 252 269 261 Interest received 23 145 44 400 Finance costs (875 613) (975 086) Net cash from operating activities (740 216) (661 397) Cash flows from investing activities (3 450) (14 600) Net cash from investing activities (3 450) (14 600) Net cash from investing activities (3 450) (14 600) Purchase of property, plant and equipment 3 (3 450) (14 600) Net cash from investing activities (3 450) (14 600) Proceeds from loans payable (1 578 475) (2 715 500) Net cash from financing activities (3 20 475) 506 826 Total cash movement for the year (1 064 141) (169 174)				```
Inventories (2 943 136) (1 587 694 Trade and other receivables 1 644 109 (362 627 Advance payments 33 333 333 Trade and other payables (809 670) 3 959 644 Repayment of lease liabilities (475 688) (196 456 Cash generated from operations 112 252 269 281 Interest received 23 145 44 406 Finance costs (875 613) (975 086 Net cash from operating activities (740 216) (661 397 Cash flows from investing activities (3 450) (14 600 Purchase of property, plant and equipment 3 (3 450) (14 600 Cash flows from financing activities (3 450) (14 600 Proceeds from loans payable (1 58 8 000) 3 222 334 Repayment of loans payable (1 678 475) (2 715 506 Net cash from financing activities (3 20 475) 506 826 Total cash movement for the year (3 599 255) (3 430 084	Finance costs		()	1 433 098
Trade and other receivables 1 644 109 (362 627 Advance payments 33 333 3333 Trade and other payables (809 670) 3 959 649 Repayment of lease liabilities (475 688) (196 459 Cash generated from operations 112 252 269 284 Interest received 23 145 44 406 Finance costs (875 613) (975 086 Net cash from operating activities (740 216) (661 397 Cash glows from investing activities (3 450) (14 600 Purchase of property, plant and equipment 3 (3 450) (14 600 Cash flows from investing activities (3 450) (14 600 Purchase of property, plant and equipment 3 58 000 3 222 334 Repayment of loans payable 1 358 000 3 222 334 Repayment of loans payable (1 678 475) (2 715 506 Net cash from financing activities (320 475) 506 826 Total cash movement for the year (3 599 255) (3 430 04	Changes in working capital:			
Advance payments 33 333 Trade and other payables (809 670) 3 959 642 Repayment of lease liabilities (475 688) (196 455 Cash generated from operations 112 252 269 281 Interest received 23 145 44 406 Finance costs (875 613) (975 086 Net cash from operating activities (740 216) (661 397 Cash flows from investing activities (3 450) (14 600 Purchase of property, plant and equipment 3 (3 450) (14 600 Net cash from investing activities (3 450) (14 600 Purchase of property, plant and equipment 3 58 000 3 222 334 Repayment of loans payable (1 678 475) (2 715 506 Net cash from loans payable (1 678 475) 506 826 Total cash movement for the year (3 599 255) (3 430 084	Inventories		(2 943 136)	(1 587 694)
Trade and other payables (809 670) 3 959 643 Repayment of lease liabilities (475 688) (196 459 Cash generated from operations 112 252 269 284 Interest received 23 145 44 406 Finance costs (875 613) (975 086 Net cash from operating activities (740 216) (661 397 Cash flows from investing activities (3 450) (14 600 Purchase of property, plant and equipment 3 (3 450) (14 600 Net cash from investing activities (3 450) (14 600 Purchase of property, plant and equipment 3 (3 20 375) (2 715 506 Repayment of loans payable 1 358 000 3 222 334 Repayment of loans payable (1 678 475) (2 715 506 Net cash from financing activities (3 20 475) 506 826 Trotal cash movement for the year (3 599 255) (3 430 084	Trade and other receivables			(362 627)
Repayment of lease liabilities (475 688) (196 459 Cash generated from operations 112 252 269 281 Interest received 23 145 44 406 Finance costs (875 613) (975 086 Net cash from operating activities (740 216) (661 397 Cash flows from investing activities (3 450) (14 600 Purchase of property, plant and equipment 3 (3 450) (14 600 Net cash from investing activities (3 450) (14 600 Purchase of property, plant and equipment 3 (3 450) (14 600 Net cash from investing activities (3 450) (14 600 Proceeds from loans payable 1 358 000 3 222 334 Repayment of loans payable (1 678 475) (2 715 506 Net cash from financing activities (3 20 475) 506 826 Total cash movement for the year (3 599 255) (3 430 084	Advance payments			-
Cash generated from operations112 252269 284Interest received23 14544 408Finance costs(875 613)(975 086Net cash from operating activities(740 216)(661 397Cash flows from investing activities3(3 450)(14 600Purchase of property, plant and equipment3(3 450)(14 600Net cash from investing activities(3 450)(14 600Purchase of property, plant and equipment3(3 450)(14 600Net cash from investing activities(3 450)(14 600Proceeds from loans payable1 358 0003 222 334Repayment of loans payable(1 678 475)(2 715 506Net cash from financing activities(320 475)506 826Total cash movement for the year(1 064 141)(169 177Cash at the beginning of the year(3 599 255)(3 430 084			````	
Interest received 23 145 44 400 Finance costs (875 613) (975 086 Net cash from operating activities (740 216) (661 397 Cash flows from investing activities (3 450) (14 600 Purchase of property, plant and equipment 3 (3 450) (14 600 Net cash from investing activities (3 450) (14 600 Cash flows from financing activities (3 450) (14 600 Cash flows from financing activities (3 450) (14 600 Proceeds from loans payable 1 358 000 3 222 334 Repayment of loans payable (1 678 475) (2 715 506 Net cash from financing activities (320 475) 506 826 Total cash movement for the year (1 064 141) (169 171 Cash at the beginning of the year (3 430 084 (3 430 084	Repayment of lease liabilities		(475 688)	(196 459)
Finance costs(875 613)(975 086Net cash from operating activities(740 216)(661 397Cash flows from investing activities3(3 450)(14 600Purchase of property, plant and equipment3(3 450)(14 600Net cash from investing activities(3 450)(14 600Cash flows from financing activities(3 450)(14 600Proceeds from loans payable1 358 0003 222 334Repayment of loans payable1 358 0003 222 334Net cash from financing activities(3 20 475)506 826Total cash movement for the year(1 064 141)(169 171Cash at the beginning of the year(3 430 084	Cash generated from operations		112 252	269 281
Net cash from operating activities(740 216)(661 397Cash flows from investing activities3(3 450)(14 600Purchase of property, plant and equipment3(3 450)(14 600Net cash from investing activities(3 450)(14 600Cash flows from financing activities1 358 0003 222 334Proceeds from loans payable1 358 0003 222 334Repayment of loans payable(1 678 475)(2 715 508Net cash from financing activities(320 475)506 826Total cash movement for the year(1 064 141)(169 171Cash at the beginning of the year(3 430 084	Interest received			44 408
Cash flows from investing activities Purchase of property, plant and equipment 3 (3 450) (14 600) Net cash from investing activities (3 450) (14 600) Cash flows from financing activities (3 450) (14 600) Cash flows from financing activities (3 450) (14 600) Proceeds from loans payable 1 358 000 3 222 334 Repayment of loans payable (1 678 475) (2 715 508) Net cash from financing activities (320 475) 506 826 Total cash movement for the year (1 064 141) (169 174) Cash at the beginning of the year (3 430 084) (3 599 255)	Finance costs		(875 613)	(975 086)
Purchase of property, plant and equipment3(3 450)(14 600)Net cash from investing activities(3 450)(14 600)Cash flows from financing activities1 358 0003 222 334Proceeds from loans payable1 358 0003 222 334Repayment of loans payable(1 678 475)(2 715 508)Net cash from financing activities(320 475)506 826Total cash movement for the year(1 064 141)(169 174)Cash at the beginning of the year(3 599 255)(3 430 084)	Net cash from operating activities		(740 216)	(661 397)
Net cash from investing activities(3 450)(14 600)Cash flows from financing activitiesProceeds from loans payableProceeds from loans payable(1 678 475)(2 715 508)Net cash from financing activitiesNet cash from financing activities(3 20 475)506 826Total cash movement for the year(1 064 141)(169 171)(3 599 255)(3 430 084)	Cash flows from investing activities			
Cash flows from financing activities Proceeds from loans payable 1 358 000 3 222 334 Repayment of loans payable (1 678 475) (2 715 508 Net cash from financing activities (320 475) 506 826 Total cash movement for the year (1 064 141) (169 171 Cash at the beginning of the year (3 599 255) (3 430 084	Purchase of property, plant and equipment	3	(3 450)	(14 600)
Proceeds from loans payable 1 358 000 3 222 334 Repayment of loans payable (1 678 475) (2 715 508 Net cash from financing activities (320 475) 506 826 Total cash movement for the year (1 064 141) (169 171 Cash at the beginning of the year (3 599 255) (3 430 084	Net cash from investing activities		(3 450)	(14 600)
Repayment of loans payable(1 678 475)(2 715 508Net cash from financing activities(320 475)506 826Total cash movement for the year(1 064 141)(169 171Cash at the beginning of the year(3 599 255)(3 430 084)	Cash flows from financing activities			
Repayment of loans payable (1 678 475) (2 715 508 Net cash from financing activities (320 475) 506 826 Total cash movement for the year (1 064 141) (169 171 Cash at the beginning of the year (3 599 255) (3 430 084)	Proceeds from loans payable		1 358 000	3 222 334
Total cash movement for the year(1 064 141)(169 171Cash at the beginning of the year(3 599 255)(3 430 084)	Repayment of loans payable		(1 678 475)	(2 715 508)
Cash at the beginning of the year (3 599 255) (3 430 084	Net cash from financing activities		(320 475)	506 826
Cash at the beginning of the year (3 599 255) (3 430 084	Total cash movement for the year		(1 064 141)	(169 171)
	Cash at the beginning of the year		. ,	(3 430 084)
	Total cash at end of the year	9	· · ·	(3 599 255)

(Registration number 2002/009690/07) Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2021

Accounting Policies

1. Significant accounting policies

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these annual financial statements are set out below.

1.1 Basis of preparation

The annual financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, and the Companies Act of South Africa. The annual financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis, except as indicated below and incorporate the principal accounting policies set out below. They are presented in South African Rands.

These accounting policies are consistent with the previous period.

1.2 Significant judgements and sources of estimation uncertainty

In preparing the annual financial statements, management is required to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts represented in the annual financial statements and related disclosures. Use of available information and the application of judgement is inherent in the formation of estimates. Actual results in the future could differ from these estimates which may be material to the annual financial statements. Significant judgements include:

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

Impairment of financial assets

The impairment provisions for financial assets are based on assumptions about risk of default and expected loss rates. The company uses judgement in making these assumptions and selecting the inputs to the impairment calculation, based on the company's past history, existing market conditions as well as forward looking estimates at the end of each reporting period. For details of the key assumptions and inputs used, refer to the individual notes addressing financial assets.

Taxation

Judgement is required in determining the provision for income taxes due to the complexity of legislation. There are many transactions and calculations for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the ordinary course of business. The company recognises liabilities for anticipated tax audit issues based on estimates of whether additional taxes will be due. Where the final tax outcome of these matters is different from the amounts that were initially recorded, such differences will impact the income tax and deferred tax provisions in the period in which such determination is made.

The company recognises the net future tax benefit related to deferred income tax assets to the extent that it is probable that the deductible temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable future. Assessing the recoverability of deferred income tax assets requires the company to make significant estimates related to expectations of future taxable income. Estimates of future taxable income are based on forecast cash flows from operations and the application of existing tax laws in each jurisdiction. To the extent that future cash flows and taxable income differ significantly from estimates, the ability of the company to realise the net deferred tax assets recorded at the end of the reporting period could be impacted.

1.3 Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are tangible assets which the company holds for its own use or for rental to others and which are expected to be used for more than one year.

An item of property, plant and equipment is recognised as an asset when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the company, and the cost of the item can be measured reliably.

Property, plant and equipment is initially measured at cost. Cost includes all of the expenditure which is directly attributable to the acquisition or construction of the asset, including the capitalisation of borrowing costs on qualifying assets and adjustments in respect of hedge accounting, where appropriate.

Expenditure incurred subsequently for major services, additions to or replacements of parts of property, plant and equipment are capitalised if it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the expenditure will flow to the company and the cost can be measured reliably. Day to day servicing costs are included in profit or loss in the year in which they are incurred.

Property, plant and equipment is subsequently stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses.

(Registration number 2002/009690/07) Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2021

Accounting Policies

1.3 Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Depreciation of an asset commences when the asset is available for use as intended by management. Depreciation is charged to write off the asset's carrying amount over its estimated useful life to its estimated residual value, using a method that best reflects the pattern in which the asset's economic benefits are consumed by the company. Leased assets are depreciated in a consistent manner over the shorter of their expected useful lives and the lease term. Depreciation is not charged to an asset if its estimated residual value exceeds or is equal to its carrying amount. Depreciation of an asset ceases at the earlier of the date that the asset is classified as held for sale or derecognised.

The useful lives of items of property, plant and equipment have been assessed as follows:

Item	Depreciation method	Average useful life
Furniture and fixtures	Straight line	10 years
IT equipment	Straight line	3 - 5 years
Computer software	Straight line	5 years
Leasehold improvements	Straight line	10 years
Branding	Straight line	1 - 3 years

The residual value, useful life and depreciation method of each asset are reviewed at the end of each reporting year. If the expectations differ from previous estimates, the change is accounted for prospectively as a change in accounting estimate.

Each part of an item of property, plant and equipment with a cost that is significant in relation to the total cost of the item is depreciated separately.

The depreciation charge for each year is recognised in profit or loss unless it is included in the carrying amount of another asset.

Impairment tests are performed on property, plant and equipment when there is an indicator that they may be impaired. When the carrying amount of an item of property, plant and equipment is assessed to be higher than the estimated recoverable amount, an impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss to bring the carrying amount in line with the recoverable amount.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected from its continued use or disposal. Any gain or loss arising from the derecognition of an item of property, plant and equipment, determined as the difference between the net disposal proceeds, if any, and the carrying amount of the item, is included in profit or loss when the item is derecognised.

1.4 Financial instruments

Financial instruments held by the company are classified in accordance with the provisions of IFRS 9 Financial Instruments.

Broadly, the classification possibilities, which are adopted by the company, as applicable, are as follows:

Financial assets which are equity instruments:

- Mandatorily at fair value through profit or loss; or
- Designated as at fair value through other comprehensive income. (This designation is not available to equity instruments which are held for trading or which are contingent consideration in a business combination).

Financial assets which are debt instruments:

- Amortised cost. (This category applies only when the contractual terms of the instrument give rise, on specified
 dates, to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on principal, and where the instrument is held
 under a business model whose objective is met by holding the instrument to collect contractual cash flows); or
- Fair value through other comprehensive income. (This category applies only when the contractual terms of the instrument give rise, on specified dates, to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on principal, and where the instrument is held under a business model whose objective is achieved by both collecting contractual cash flows and selling the instruments); or
- Mandatorily at fair value through profit or loss. (This classification automatically applies to all debt instruments which do not qualify as at amortised cost or at fair value through other comprehensive income); or
- Designated at fair value through profit or loss. (This classification option can only be applied when it eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting mismatch).

(Registration number 2002/009690/07) Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2021

Accounting Policies

1.4 Financial instruments (continued)

Derivatives which are not part of a hedging relationship:

• Mandatorily at fair value through profit or loss.

Financial liabilities:

- Amortised cost; or
- Mandatorily at fair value through profit or loss. (This applies to contingent consideration in a business combination or to liabilities which are held for trading); or
- Designated at fair value through profit or loss. (This classification option can be applied when it eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting mismatch; the liability forms part of a group of financial instruments managed on a fair value basis; or it forms part of a contract containing an embedded derivative and the entire contract is designated as at fair value through profit or loss).

The specific accounting policies for the classification, recognition and measurement of each type of financial instrument held by the company are presented below:

Trade and other receivables

Classification

Trade and other receivables, excluding, when applicable, VAT and prepayments, are classified as financial assets subsequently measured at amortised cost (note 8).

They have been classified in this manner because their contractual terms give rise, on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal outstanding, and the company's business model is to collect the contractual cash flows on trade and other receivables.

Recognition and measurement

Trade and other receivables are recognised when the company becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the receivables. They are measured, at initial recognition, at fair value plus transaction costs, if any.

They are subsequently measured at amortised cost.

The amortised cost is the amount recognised on the receivable initially, minus principal repayments, plus cumulative amortisation (interest) using the effective interest method of any difference between the initial amount and the maturity amount, adjusted for any loss allowance.

Impairment and estimated credit losses (ECL)

The company recognises a loss allowance for expected credit losses on trade and other receivables, excluding deposits, other receivables, VAT and prepayments. The amount of expected credit losses is updated at each reporting date.

The company measures the loss allowance for trade and other receivables at an amount equal to lifetime expected credit losses (lifetime ECL), which represents the expected credit losses that will result from all possible default events over the expected life of the receivable.

(Registration number 2002/009690/07) Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2021

Accounting Policies

1.4 Financial instruments (continued)

Measurement and recognition of expected credit losses

The company makes use of a provision matrix as a practical expedient to the determination of expected credit losses on trade and other receivables. The provision matrix is based on historic credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors, general economic conditions and an assessment of both the current and forecast direction of conditions at the reporting date, including the time value of money, where appropriate.

The customer base is widespread and does not show significantly different loss patterns for different customer segments. The loss allowance is calculated on a collective basis for all trade and other receivables in totality. Details of the provision matrix is presented in note 8.

An impairment gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss with a corresponding adjustment to the carrying amount of trade and other receivables, through use of a loss allowance account. The impairment loss is included in other operating expenses in profit or loss as a movement in credit loss allowance (note 16).

Write off policy

The company writes off a receivable when there is information indicating that the counterparty is in severe financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of recovery, e.g. when the counterparty has been placed under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy proceedings. Receivables written off may still be subject to enforcement activities under the company recovery procedures, taking into account legal advice where appropriate. Any recoveries made are recognised in profit or loss.

Borrowings and loans from related parties

Classification

Loans payable (note 11) are classified as financial liabilities subsequently measured at amortised cost.

Recognition and measurement

Borrowings and loans from related parties are recognised when the company becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the loan. The loans are measured, at initial recognition, at fair value plus transaction costs, if any.

They are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating interest expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments (including all fees and points paid or received that form an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the financial liability, or (where appropriate) a shorter period, to the amortised cost of a financial liability.

Trade and other payables

Classification

Trade and other payables (note 12), excluding VAT and amounts received in advance, are classified as financial liabilities subsequently measured at amortised cost.

Recognition and measurement

They are recognised when the company becomes a party to the contractual provisions, and are measured, at initial recognition, at fair value plus transaction costs, if any.

They are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating interest expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments (including all fees and points paid or received that form an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the financial liability, or (where appropriate) a shorter period, to the amortised cost of a financial liability.

(Registration number 2002/009690/07) Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2021

Accounting Policies

1.4 Financial instruments (continued)

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand deposits, and other short-term highly liquid investments that are readily convertible to a known amount of cash and are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value. These financial assets are classified as financial assets carried at amortised cost.

Bank overdrafts

Bank overdrafts are initially measured at fair value, and are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest rate method.

Derecognition

Financial assets

The company derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another party. If the company neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership and continues to control the transferred asset, the company recognises its retained interest in the asset and an associated liability for amounts it may have to pay. If the company retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of a transferred financial asset, the company continues to recognise the financial asset and also recognises a collateralised borrowing for the proceeds received.

Financial liabilities

The company derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when, the company obligations are discharged, cancelled or they expire. The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid and payable, including any non-cash assets transferred or liabilities assumed, is recognised in profit or loss.

1.5 Tax

Current tax assets and liabilities

Current tax for current and prior periods is, to the extent unpaid, recognised as a liability. If the amount already paid in respect of current and prior periods exceeds the amount due for those periods, the excess is recognised as an asset.

Current tax liabilities (assets) for the current and prior periods are measured at the amount expected to be paid to (recovered from) the tax authorities, using the tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

(Registration number 2002/009690/07) Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2021

Accounting Policies

1.5 Tax (continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities

A deferred tax liability is recognised for all taxable temporary differences, except to the extent that the deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction which at the time of the transaction, affects neither accounting profit nor taxable profit (tax loss).

A deferred tax asset is recognised for all deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the deductible temporary difference can be utilised. A deferred tax asset is not recognised when it arises from the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction at the time of the transaction, affects neither accounting profit nor taxable profit (tax loss).

A deferred tax asset is recognised for the carry forward of unused tax losses to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be available against which the unused tax losses can be utilised.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period when the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Tax expenses

Current and deferred taxes are recognised as income or an expense and included in profit or loss for the period, except to the extent that the tax arises from:

a transaction or event which is recognised, in the same or a different period, to other comprehensive income.

Current tax and deferred taxes are charged or credited to other comprehensive income if the tax relates to items that are credited or charged, in the same or a different period, to other comprehensive income.

Current tax and deferred taxes are charged or credited directly to equity if the tax relates to items that are credited or charged, in the same or a different period, directly in equity.

1.6 Leases

The company assesses whether a contract is, or contains a lease, at the inception of the contract.

A contract is, or contains a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration.

In order to assess whether a contract is, or contains a lease, management determine whether the asset under consideration is "identified", which means that the asset is either explicitly or implicitly specified in the contract and that the supplier does not have a substantial right of substitution throughout the period of use. Once management has concluded that the contract deals with an identified asset, the right to control the use thereof is considered. To this end, control over the use of an identified asset only exists when the company has the right to substantially all of the economic benefits from the use of the asset as well as the right to direct the use of the asset.

In circumstances where the determination of whether the contract is or contains a lease requires significant judgement, the relevant disclosures are provided in the significant judgments and sources of estimation uncertainty section of these accounting policies.

(Registration number 2002/009690/07) Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2021

Accounting Policies

1.6 Leases (continued)

Company as lessee

A lease liability and corresponding right-of-use asset are recognised at the lease commencement date, for all lease agreements for which the company is a lessee, except for short-term leases of 12 months or less, or leases of low value assets. For these leases, the company recognises the lease payments as an operating expense (note 16) on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease unless another systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in which economic benefits from the leased asset are consumed.

The various lease and non-lease components of contracts containing leases are accounted for separately, with consideration being allocated to each lease component on the basis of the relative stand-alone prices of the lease components and the aggregate stand-alone price of the non-lease components (where non-lease components exist).

Details of leasing arrangements where the company is a lessee are presented in note 13 Lease liabilities (company as lessee).

Lease liability

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at the commencement date, discounted by using the rate implicit in the lease. If this rate cannot be readily determined, the company uses its incremental borrowing rate.

Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability comprise the following:

- fixed lease payments, including in-substance fixed payments, less any lease incentives; and
- lease payments in an optional renewal period if the company is reasonably certain to exercise an extension option.

The lease liability is presented as a separate line item on the Statement of Financial Position.

The lease liability is subsequently measured by increasing the carrying amount to reflect interest on the lease liability (using the effective interest method) and by reducing the carrying amount to reflect lease payments made. Interest charged on the lease liability is included in finance costs (note 18).

The company remeasures the lease liability (and makes a corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use asset) when:

- there has been a change to the lease term, in which case the lease liability is remeasured by discounting the revised lease payments using a revised discount rate;
- there has been a change in the assessment of whether the company will exercise a purchase, termination or extension option, in which case the lease liability is remeasured by discounting the revised lease payments using a revised discount rate;
- there has been a change to the lease payments due to a change in an index or a rate, in which case the lease liability is remeasured by discounting the revised lease payments using the initial discount rate (unless the lease payments change is due to a change in a floating interest rate, in which case a revised discount rate is used);
- there has been a change in expected payment under a residual value guarantee, in which case the lease liability is remeasured by discounting the revised lease payments using the initial discount rate;
- a lease contract has been modified and the lease modification is not accounted for as a separate lease, in which case the lease liability is remeasured by discounting the revised payments using a revised discount rate.

When the lease liability is remeasured in this way, a corresponding adjustment is made to the carrying amount of the right-ofuse asset, or is recognised in profit or loss if the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset has been reduced to zero.

(Registration number 2002/009690/07) Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2021

Accounting Policies

1.6 Leases (continued)

Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are presented as a separate line item on the Statement of Financial Position.

Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability comprise the following:

- the initial amount of the corresponding lease liability;
- any lease payments made at or before the commencement date;
- any initial direct costs incurred;
- any estimated costs to dismantle and remove the underlying asset or to restore the underlying asset or the site on which it is located, when the company incurs an obligation to do so, unless these costs are incurred to produce inventories; and
- less any lease incentives received.

Right-of-use assets are subsequently measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.

Right-of-use assets are depreciated over the shorter period of lease term and useful life of the underlying asset. However, if a lease transfers ownership of the underlying asset or the cost of the right-of-use asset reflects that the company expects to exercise a purchase option, the related right-of-use asset is depreciated over the useful life of the underlying asset. Depreciation starts at the commencement date of a lease.

For right-of-use assets which are depreciated over their useful lives, the useful lives are determined consistently with items of the same class of property, plant and equipment. Refer to the accounting policy for property, plant and equipment for details of useful lives.

The residual value, useful life and depreciation method of each asset are reviewed at the end of each reporting year. If the expectations differ from previous estimates, the change is accounted for prospectively as a change in accounting estimate. Each part of a right-of-use asset with a cost that is significant in relation to the total cost of the asset is depreciated separately.

The depreciation charge for each year is recognised in profit or loss unless it is included in the carrying amount of another asset.

1.7 Inventories

Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value on the weighted average cost formula.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business less the estimated costs of completion and the estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

The cost of inventories comprises of all costs of purchase, costs of conversion and other costs incurred in bringing the inventories to their present location and condition.

The cost of inventories of items that are not ordinarily interchangeable and goods or services produced and segregated for specific projects is assigned using specific identification of the individual costs.

1.8 Impairment of assets

The company assesses at each end of the reporting period whether there is any indication that an asset may be impaired. If any such indication exists, the company estimates the recoverable amount of the asset.

If there is any indication that an asset may be impaired, the recoverable amount is estimated for the individual asset. If it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of the individual asset, the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs is determined.

The recoverable amount of an asset or a cash-generating unit is the higher of its fair value less costs to sell and its value in use.

If the recoverable amount of an asset is less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset is reduced to its recoverable amount. That reduction is an impairment loss.

(Registration number 2002/009690/07) Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2021

Accounting Policies

1.8 Impairment of assets (continued)

An impairment loss of assets carried at cost less any accumulated depreciation or amortisation is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

An entity assesses at each reporting date whether there is any indication that an impairment loss recognised in prior periods for assets other than goodwill may no longer exist or may have decreased. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amounts of those assets are estimated.

The increased carrying amount of an asset other than goodwill attributable to a reversal of an impairment loss does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior periods.

A reversal of an impairment loss of assets carried at cost less accumulated depreciation or amortisation other than goodwill is recognised immediately in profit or loss. Any reversal of an impairment loss of a revalued asset is treated as a revaluation increase.

1.9 Share capital and equity

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its liabilities.

If the company reacquires its own equity instruments, the consideration paid, including any directly attributable incremental costs (net of income taxes) on those instruments are deducted from equity until the shares are cancelled or reissued. No gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss on the purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of the company's own equity instruments. Consideration paid or received shall be recognised directly in equity.

1.10 Employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits

The cost of short-term employee benefits, (those payable within 12 months after the service is rendered, such as paid vacation leave and sick leave, bonuses, and non-monetary benefits such as medical care), are recognised in the period in which the service is rendered and are not discounted.

The expected cost of compensated absences is recognised as an expense as the employees render services that increase their entitlement or, in the case of non-accumulating absences, when the absence occurs.

The expected cost of bonus payments is recognised as an expense when there is a legal or constructive obligation to make such payments as a result of past performance.

1.11 Provisions and contingencies

Provisions are recognised when:

- the company has a present obligation as a result of a past event;
- it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation; and
- a reliable estimate can be made of the obligation.

The amount of a provision is the present value of the expenditure expected to be required to settle the obligation.

Where some or all of the expenditure required to settle a provision is expected to be reimbursed by another party, the reimbursement shall be recognised when, and only when, it is virtually certain that reimbursement will be received if the entity settles the obligation. The reimbursement shall be treated as a separate asset. The amount recognised for the reimbursement shall not exceed the amount of the provision.

Provisions are not recognised for future operating losses.

(Registration number 2002/009690/07) Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2021

Accounting Policies

1.12 Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable and represents the amounts receivable for goods and services provided in the normal course of business, net of trade discounts and volume rebates, and value added tax.

Performance obligations and timing of revenue recognition

The majority of the company's revenue is derived from selling goods with revenue recognised at a point in time when control of the goods has transferred to the customer. This is generally when the goods are delivered to the customer.

However, for export sales, control might also be transferred when delivered either to the port of departure or port of arrival, depending on the specific terms of the contract with a customer. There is limited judgement needed in identifying the point control passes: once physical delivery of the products to the agreed location has occurred, the company no longer has physical possession, usually will have a present right to payment (as a single payment on delivery) and retains none of the significant risks and rewards of the goods in question.

A small minority of contracts are negotiated on a bill and hold basis. In such arrangements revenue is recognised even though the company still has physical possession only if:

- the arrangement is substantive (i.e. requested by the customer);
- the finished goods have been identified separately as belonging to the customer;
- the product is ready for physical transfer to the customer; and
- A lon Exchange Safic (Pty) Ltd company does not have the ability to use the product to direct it to another customer.

The company has a small division which carries out consultancy-type services for clients, with revenue recognised as the services accrue. This is because some of the "plants" require further "consultancy/service to continue in a productive state, the alternative being that the contracts would require payment to be received for the time and effort spent by the company on progressing the contracts in the event of the customer cancelling the contract prior to completion for any reason other than the company's failure to perform its obligations under the contract. On partially complete design contracts, A lon Exchange Safic (Pty) Ltd recognises revenue based on stage of completion of the project which is estimated by comparing the number of hours actually spent on the project with the total number of hours expected to complete the project (i.e. an input based method) or utilising a costing sheet with estimations of project lead time and stages of completion by percentage. This is considered a faithful depiction of the transfer of services as the contracts are initially priced on the basis of anticipated hours, material usage and services to complete the projects and therefore also represents the amount to which the company would be entitled based on its performance to date.

Determining the transaction price

Most of the company's revenue is derived from a fixed contract formula by market sector and product type, therefore the amount of revenue to be earned from each contract is determined by reference to those fixed percentage prices.

The selling price is derived by formulating the 'Cost price (Intercompany Transfer Price + Import Cost) + % Sales Margin = Sales Price

Chemicals –% Sales Margin - Pricing is quoted per Kg, Distributors are quoted at 35% of GP and customers at 55% of GP Resin – % Sales Margin – Pricing is quoted per LT, Distributors are quoted at 30-40% of GP and customers at 45% of GP Membranes - % Sales Margin – Pricing is quoted per Unit/EA, Distributors are quoted at 20% of GP and customers at 35% of GP

The Exceptions are:

- Variable consideration relating to volume rebates has been constrained in estimating contract revenue in order that it is highly probable that there will not be a future reversal in the amount of revenue recognised when the amount of volume rebates has been determined.

Allocating amounts to performance obligations

For most contracts, there is a fixed unit price for each product sold, with reductions given for bulk orders placed at a specific time. Therefore, there is no judgement involved in allocating the contract price to each unit ordered in such contracts (it is the total contract price divided by the number of units ordered). Where a customer orders more than one product line, the company is able to determine the split of the total contract price between each product line by reference to each product's standalone selling prices (all product lines are capable of being, and are, sold separately).

(Registration number 2002/009690/07) Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2021

Accounting Policies

1.12 Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

In order to win significant repeat business with key customers, the company might enter into contracts entitling them to discounts if it places repeat orders in the future. Such discounts constitute a 'material right' and result in some of the consideration received for the initial sale being deferred and recognised as revenue when subsequent sales are fulfilled or (if later) when the rights to receive a discount expire. The company estimates both the probability that the customer will take up its future discount offer and the value of future purchases that might be made in order to estimate the value of the rights granted. This has to be done on a contract–by-contract basis for each customer to whom material rights have been granted.

The directors do not consider past experience an appropriate basis for estimating the amount of total contract revenue to allocate to future discount rights for two reasons. Firstly, there is not a significant number of such contracts on which past experience can be extrapolated. And secondly, each customer has unique circumstances which will impact both the probability and value of additional orders being placed. Therefore, the estimates are made by reference to discussions had with the relevant customers as to the extent the discount options will be taken up when the original contracts were negotiated.

Costs of obtaining long-term contracts and costs of fulfilling contracts

Incremental commissions paid to sales staff for work in obtaining design contracts of periods longer than one year are recorded in prepayments and amortised based on the stage of completion of the contract, i.e. in the same pattern as revenue is recognised.

No judgement is needed to measure the amount of costs of obtaining contracts – it is the commission paid.

The costs of fulfilling contracts do not result in the recognition of a separate asset because:

-such costs are included in the carrying amount of inventory for contracts involving the sale of goods; and

-for service contracts, revenue is recognised over time by reference to the stage of completion meaning that control of the asset (the design service) is transferred to the customer on a continuous basis as work is carried out.

Consequently, no asset for work in progress is recognised.

1.13 Cost of sales

When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of those inventories are recognised as an expense in the period in which the related revenue is recognised. The amount of any write-down of inventories to net realisable value and all losses of inventories are recognised as an expense in the period the write-down or loss occurs. The amount of any reversal of any write-down of inventories, arising from an increase in net realisable value, is recognised as a reduction in the amount of inventories recognised as an expense in the period in which the reversal occurs.

The related cost of providing services recognised as revenue in the current period is included in cost of sales.

Contract costs comprise:

- costs that relate directly to the specific contract;
 - costs that are attributable to contract activity in general and can be allocated to the contract; and
 - such other costs as are specifically chargeable to the customer under the terms of the contract.

1.14 Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs are recognised as an expense in the period in which they are incurred.

(Registration number 2002/009690/07) Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2021

Accounting Policies

1.15 Translation of foreign currencies

Foreign currency transactions

A foreign currency transaction is recorded, on initial recognition in Rands, by applying to the foreign currency amount the spot exchange rate between the functional currency and the foreign currency at the date of the transaction.

At the end of the reporting period:

- foreign currency monetary items are translated using the closing rate;
- non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rate at the date of the transaction; and
- non-monetary items that are measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value was determined.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items or on translating monetary items at rates different from those at which they were translated on initial recognition during the period or in previous annual financial statements are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.

When a gain or loss on a non-monetary item is recognised to other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity, any exchange component of that gain or loss is recognised to other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity. When a gain or loss on a non-monetary item is recognised in profit or loss, any exchange component of that gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss.

Cash flows arising from transactions in a foreign currency are recorded in Rands by applying to the foreign currency amount the exchange rate between the Rand and the foreign currency at the date of the cash flow.

(Registration number 2002/009690/07)

Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2021

Notes to the Annual Financial Statements

New Standards and Interpretations 2.

2.1 Standards and interpretations effective and adopted in the current year

In the current year, the company has adopted the following standards and interpretations that are effective for the current financial year and that are relevant to its operations:

Standard/ Interpretation:

ndard	/ Interpretation:	Effective date: Years beginning on or after	Expected impact:
•	Interest Rate Benchmark Reform: Amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39 and IFRS 7	01 January 2020	No impact
•	Definition of a business - Amendments to IFRS 3	01 January 2020	No impact
•	Presentation of Financial Statements: Disclosure initiative	01 January 2020	No impact
•	Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors: Disclosure initiative	01 January 2020	No impact
•	COVID-19 - Related Rent Concessions - Amendment to IFRS 16	01 June 2020	No impact

2.2 Standards and interpretations not yet effective

The company has chosen not to early adopt the following standards and interpretations, which have been published and are mandatory for the company's accounting periods beginning on or after 01 April 2021 or later periods:

Standard	I/ Interpretation:	Effective date: Years beginning on or after	Expected impact:
•	Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-Current - Amendment to IAS 1	01 January 2023	Unlikely there will be a material impact
•	Annual Improvement to IFRS Standards 2018-2020: Amendments to IFRS 1	01 January 2022	Unlikely there will be a material impact
•	Annual Improvement to IFRS Standards 2018-2020: Amendments to IFRS 9	01 January 2022	Unlikely there will be a material impact
•	Property, Plant and Equipment: Proceeds before Intended Use: Amendments to IAS 16	01 January 2022	Unlikely there will be a material impact
•	Onerous Contracts - Cost of Fulfilling a Contract: Amendments to IAS 37	01 January 2022	Unlikely there will be a material impact
•	Interest Rate Benchmark Reform - Phase 2: Amendments to IFRS 4	01 January 2021	Unlikely there will be a material impact
•	Interest Rate Benchmark Reform - Phase 2: Amendments to IFRS 7	01 January 2021	Unlikely there will be a material impact
•	Interest Rate Benchmark Reform - Phase 2: Amendments to IFRS 9	01 January 2021	Unlikely there will be a material impact
•	Interest Rate Benchmark Reform - Phase 2: Amendments to IFRS 16	01 January 2021	Unlikely there will be a material impact
•	Interest Rate Benchmark Reform - Phase 2: Amendments to IAS 39	01 January 2021	Unlikely there will be a material impact

Ion Exchange Safic Proprietary Limited (Registration number 2002/009690/07) Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2021

Notes to the Annual Financial Statements

2021	2020
R	R

Property, plant and equipment 3.

	2021				2020	
	Cost	Accumulated Carrying value depreciation		Cost Accumulated Carrying depreciation		rrying value
Furniture and fixtures	10 127	(6 414)	3 713	10 127	(5 401)	4 726
IT equipment	138 379	(106 473)	31 906	134 929	(93 337)	41 592
Computer software	10 996	(8 662)	2 334	10 996	(7 261)	3 735
Leasehold improvements	-	-	-	2 100	(1 628)	472
Branding	31 657	(31 655)	2	31 657	(31 655)	2
Total	191 159	(153 204)	37 955	189 809	(139 282)	50 527

Reconciliation of property, plant and equipment - 2021

	Opening balance	Additions	Disposals	Depreciation	Total
Furniture and fixtures	4 726	-	-	(1 013)	3 713
IT equipment	41 592	3 450	-	(13 136)	31 906
Computer software	3 735	-	-	`(1 401́)	2 334
Leasehold improvements	472	-	(472)) –	-
Branding	2	-	-	-	2
	50 527	3 450	(472)	(15 550)	37 955

Reconciliation of property, plant and equipment - 2020

	Opening balance	Additions	Depreciation	Total
Furniture and fixtures	5 738	-	(1 0 1 2)	4 726
IT equipment	46 757	14 600	(19 766)	41 592
Computer software	5 135	-	(1 400)	3 735
Leasehold improvements	682	-	` (210)́	472
Branding	2	-	-	2
	58 314	14 600	(22 388)	50 527

(Registration number 2002/009690/07)

Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2021

Notes to the Annual Financial Statements

2021	2020
R	R

4. Right-of-use assets

		2021			2020	
	Cost	Accumulated Ca amortisation	rrying value	Cost	Accumulated Ca amortisation	rrying value
Land and buildings Plant, machinery and motor vehicles	1 030 824 159 555	(559 231 48 599	833 963 165 457	(143 628) (35 969)	690 335 129 488
Total	1 190 379	(582 549)	607 830	999 420	(179 597)	819 823

Reconciliation of right-of-use assets - 2021

	Opening balance	Additions	Disposals	Amortisation	Total
Land and buildings	690 335	196 861	-	(327 965)	559 231
Plant, machinery and motor vehicles	129 488	-	(5 902)	(74 987)	48 599
	819 823	196 861	(5 902)	(402 952)	607 830

Reconciliation of right-of-use assets - 2020

	Opening balance	Additions	Amortisation	Total
Land and buildings	-	833 963	(143 628)	690 335
Plant, machinery and motor vehicles	-	165 457	` (35 969)́	129 488
	-	999 420	(179 597)	819 823

Refer to note 13 for further details regarding the leases.

5. Derivative financial instruments

Derivatives designated as hedging instruments

Forward foreign exchange rate contracts

The derivative financial assets have been reported in the financial statements and disclosed at maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date at fair value of the foreign exchange contracts taken and included as such in the non-current portion of statement of financial position. The fair value measurement used is classified under level 2.

The company has elected to adopt the hedge accounting requirements of IFRS 9 Financial Instruments. Ion exchange Safic enters into hedge relationships where the critical terms of the hedging instrument and the hedged item match, therefore, for the prospective assessment of effectiveness a qualitative assessment is performed. Hedge effectiveness is determined at the origination of the hedging relationship. Quantitative effectiveness tests are performed at each period end to determine the continuing effectiveness of the relationship. In instances where changes occur to the hedged item which result in the critical terms no longer matching, the hypothetical derivative method is used to assess effectiveness.

859 025

(Registration number 2002/009690/07)

Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2021

Notes to the Annual Financial Statements

	2021 R	2020 R
5. Derivative financial instruments (continued)		
The amounts recognised in cost of sales that arose from cash flow hedges amounts to a profit or (loss) of:	-	138 057
The effects of the forward foreign exchange contract hedging relationships are as follows at 31	March:	
Carrying amount of derivatives Change in fair value of designated hedging instruments Change in fair value of designated hedged item Notional amount Maturity dates Hedge ratio	- - -	859 025 1 384 436 (1 384 436) 9 258 849 6 - 9months 1:1
6. Deferred tax		
Deferred tax liability		
Prepayments	-	(9 333)
Deferred tax asset		
Provision for leave pay Provision for obsolete stock Amounts received in advance Unrealised forex gain Provision for bad debts IFRS 16 right-of-use asset & lease liability Over/under provision of deferred tax: prior year	66 533 82 561 263 071 60 136 105 372 20 575	61 270 99 646 39 775 95 674 88 373 8 420 52 657
Deferred tax balance from temporary differences other than unused tax losses	598 248	445 815
Total deferred tax asset	598 248	445 815

The deferred tax assets and the deferred tax liability relate to income tax in the same jurisdiction, and the law allows net settlement. Therefore, they have been offset in the statement of financial position as follows:

Deferred tax liability	-	(9 333)
Deferred tax asset	598 248	445 815
Total net deferred tax asset	598 248	436 482

Deferred tax is calculated in full on temporary differences under the liability method using an applicable tax rate of 28%.

Reconciliation of deferred tax asset

Deferred tax balance at the beginning of the financial year	436 482	322 272
Taxable / (deductible) temporary difference movement	161 766	114 210
Deferred tax balance at the end of the financial year	598 248	436 482

Recognition of deferred tax asset

Deferred tax assets have been recognised in respect of other temporary differences giving rise to deferred tax assets where the company and its directors believe it is probable that these assets will be recovered.

(Registration number 2002/009690/07)

Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2021

Notes to the Annual Financial Statements

	2021	2020
	R	R
7. Inventories		
Finished goods	7 305 367	4 423 249
Provision for obsolete inventory	7 305 367 (294 862)	4 423 249 (355 880)
	7 010 505	4 067 369
 Trade and other receivables Financial instruments: Trade receivables Loss allowance 	2 504 928 (501 769)	4 166 468 (420 822)
Trade receivables at amortised cost Deposits Staff loans	2 003 159 2 500 3 233	3 745 646 2 500 -
Non-financial instruments: VAT	95 145	-
Total trade and other receivables	2 104 037	3 748 146

Financial instrument and non-financial instrument components of trade and other receivables

At amortised cost	2 008 892	3 748 146
Non-financial instruments	95 145	-
	2 104 037	3 748 146

Exposure to credit risk

Trade receivables inherently expose the company to credit risk, being the risk that the company will incur financial loss if customers fail to make payments as they fall due.

A loss allowance is recognised for all trade receivables, in accordance with IFRS 9 Financial Instruments, and is monitored at the end of each reporting period. In addition to the loss allowance, trade receivables are written off when there is no reasonable expectation of recovery, for example, when a debtor has been placed under liquidation. Trade receivables which have been written off are not subject to enforcement activities.

The company measures the loss allowance for trade receivables by applying the simplified approach which is prescribed by IFRS 9. In accordance with this approach, the loss allowance on trade receivables is determined as the lifetime expected credit losses on trade receivables. These lifetime expected credit losses are estimated using a provision matrix, which is presented below. The provision matrix has been developed by making use of past default experience of debtors but also incorporates forward looking information and general economic conditions of the industry as at the reporting date.

There has been no change in the estimation techniques or significant assumptions made during the current reporting period.

(Registration number 2002/009690/07) Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2021

Notes to the Annual Financial Statements

202	21 2020	
R	R R	

8. Trade and other receivables (continued)

The company's historical credit loss experience does not show significantly different loss patterns for different customer segments. The provision for credit losses is therefore based on past due status without disaggregating into further risk profiles. The loss allowance provision is determined as follows:

	2021	2021	2020	2020
Expected credit loss rate:	Estimated gross carrying amount at default	Loss allowance (Lifetime expected credit loss)	Estimated gross carrying amount at default	Loss allowance (Lifetime expected credit loss)
Less than 30 days past due: 0% (2020: 0%)	2 129 709	-	2 435 231	-
31 - 60 days past due: 0% (2020: 0%)	730 170	-	800 009	-
61 - 90 days past due: 37.55% (2020: 2.48%)	113 612	(42 665)	176 449	(4 368)
91 - 120 days past due: 100% (2020: 86.95%)	23 430	(23 4 30)	30 999	(26 955)
121 - 150 days past due: 0% (2020: 86.96%)	-	-	36 482	(31 723)
More than 150 days past due: 100% (2020: 52.06%)	435 034	(435 674)	687 298	(357 776)
Total	3 431 955	(501 769)	4 166 468	(420 822)

Reconciliation of loss allowances

The following table shows the movement in the loss allowance (lifetime expected credit losses) for trade receivables:

Opening balance in accordance with IFRS 9	(420 822)	(300 700)
Provision raised on new trade receivables	(80 947)	(120 122)
Closing balance	(501 769)	(420 822)

9. Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents consist of:

	(4 663 396)	(3 599 255)
Current assets	336 604	1 400 745
Current liabilities	(5 000 000)	(5 000 000)
	(4 663 396)	(3 599 255)
Cash on hand: Petty cash	192	1 380
Cash at Banks: FNB	336 412	1 399 365
Bank overdraft: ICICI	(5 000 000)	(5 000 000)

Cession of FirstRand Deposit / Credit Balances Unlimited Pledges / Notices / Withdrawal Cost R 255 000.

(Registration number 2002/009690/07) Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2021

Notes to the Annual Financial Statements

	2021	2020
	R	2020 R
10. Ordinary share capital and share premium		
Authorised	4 000	4 000
1 000 ordinary shares of no par value	1 000	1 000
Issued		
1 000 ordinary shares of no par value	1 000	1 000
Share premium	999 000	999 000
	1 000 000	1 000 000
 Loans payable Held at amortised cost Loan from 60% Parent: Ion Exchange India Limited 	1 976 502	1 780 640
Loan from 40% Owner/Associated Company :SAFIC Proprietary Limited Loan Other- Short Term: SAFIC Proprietary Limited	1 316 933 301 295	1 186 421 600 000
	3 594 730	3 567 061
Split between non-current and current portions		
Non-current liabilities Current liabilities	3 293 435 301 295	2 967 061 600 000
	3 594 730	3 567 061
Interest accrued on long term loans not yet paid: Ion Exchange India Limited	1 104 294	908 430
Interest accrued on long term loan not yet paid: SAFIC Proprietary Limited	764 642	611 664
	1 868 936	1 520 094

The loans are unsecured and bear interest of 11% (2020: 12%) p.a and have no set terms of repayment.

The loans are subordinated in favour of other creditors until such time as the assets of the company fairly valued exceed the liabilities.

The SAFIC Short term loan is unsecured and bears interest at FNB prime plus 6.5% up to July 2020 and from 24 July 2020 at Standard Bank prime plus 3.5%, paid by the earliest day of the following month whenever SAFIC claims.

12. Trade and other payables

Financial instruments:		
Trade payables	10 808 751	11 153 376
Accrued leave pay and bonus	237 618	218 819
Payroll accruals	128 830	104 882
Accrued audit fees	166 960	168 323
Sundry accruals	166 420	322 985
Non-financial instruments:		
VAT payable	-	349 864
	11 508 579	12 318 249

Included in trade payables are amounts due to the shareholders to the value of R 4 707 635 (2020: R 667 007) which have been subordinated in favour of the other creditors until such time as the assets fairly valued exceed the liabilities.

(Registration number 2002/009690/07)

Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2021

Notes to the Annual Financial Statements

2021	2020
R	R

13. Lease liabilities

The lease balances below have been recognised from the sub-lease of office space from Safic Proprietary Limited with an option to renew, since Safic has the current primary contract with the lessor, the lease in respect of Safic has been calculated to the end of Safic's lease term which is June 2023. Ion exchange Safic is also sub-leasing warehouse space and a forklift from Floorworx Proprietary Limited, Floorworx has the primary contract ending September 2021.

2021	Land and buildings	Plant, machinery and motor vehicles	Total
Lease liabilities at the beginning of the year	715 786	134 109	849 895
Additions / (disposals)	191 656	-	191 656
Interest expense	110 755	4 695	115 450
Lease payments	(382 088)	(93 600)	(475 688)
Lease liabilities at the end of the year	636 109	45 204	681 313

2020	Land and buildings	Plant, machinery and motor vehicles	Total
Additions	833 963	165 457	999 420
Interest expense	39 282	7 652	46 934
Lease payments	(157 459)	(39 000)	(196 459)
Lease liabilities at the end of the year	715 786	134 109	849 895

Lease liability balances as at 31 March 2021	Leases up to 3 months -	Between 3 and 12 months -	Between 1 and 2 years 387 620	Between 2 and 5 years 293 693	Over 5 years -
Lease liability balances as at 31 March 2020	-	_	807 050	168 321	-

Commitments

Operating leases – as lessee

Minimum lease payments due		
- within one year	387 620	489 187
	293 693	486 184
	681 313	975 371

The lease payments represent rentals payable by the company for certain of its office properties, warehouse spaces, and forklift.

Notes to the Annual Financial Statements

	2021 R	2020 R
14. Revenue		
Revenue from contracts with customers		
Sales Technical fees received	19 883 932 110 945	15 732 777 1 064 299
Debtor discount allowed	(53 320)	(19 014)
	19 941 557	16 778 062
15. Other income		
Rental income	19 500	-
Bad debts recovered	460	-
CFC bank account revaluation gain Other income	103 976 4 200	139 202
Gain on exchange rate	-	438 327
Discount received	128 136	1 577 530
16. Operating profit (loss)Operating profit (loss) for the year is stated after charging (crediting) the following	ing, amongst others:	
Auditor's remuneration - external		
Audit fees	159 399	176 920
Employee costs		
Salaries, wages, bonuses and other benefits	3 936 385	3 254 928
M/V allowance salary	366 000 53 694	339 500 42 593
Company cost disability/death benefits Medical contribution salary	290 337	273 843
Provident contribution salary	190 999	151 375
Total employee costs	4 837 415	4 062 239
Leases		
Operating lease charges Premises - short term / low value leases	147 555	243 629
Depreciation and amortisation	100 0	470 50-
Amortisation of right-of-use assets Depreciation of property, plant and equipment	402 952 15 550	179 597 22 388
Total depreciation and amortisation	418 502	201 985
Other		
Other Accounting fees	331 209	201 337
Commission paid	6 383	134 549
Fuel and oil	118 026	209 597

(Registration number 2002/009690/07)

Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2021

Notes to the Annual Financial Statements

	2021 R	2020 R
	K	ĸ
17. Finance income		
I nterest income Bank	23 145	44 408
18. Finance costs		
Interest paid - Intergroup	348 842	411 078
Interest on lease liabilities IFRS 16	115 450	46 934
Interest paid - Local bank account	409 442	560 508
Interest paid - Foreign bank account	462 611	412 076
Interest paid - Other	3 560	2 502
Total finance costs	1 339 905	1 433 098
Major components of the tax recovery Deferred tax recovery Originating and reversing temporary differences	(161 766)	(114 210
Reconciliation of the tax recovery		
Reconciliation between accounting profit (loss) and tax recovery.		
Accounting profit (loss)	68 546	(2 275 238
Tax at the applicable tax rate of 28% (2020: 28%)	19 193	(637 067
Tax effect of adjustments on taxable income	400	
Non-deductible expenses (Assessed loss utilised) / unrecognised assessed loss	120 (181 079)	- 522 857
(13553564 1035 dimotu) / dimotogriacu daacaacu 1035	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	
	(161 766)	(114 210

No provision has been made for 2021 tax as the company has no taxable income. The estimated tax loss available for set off against future taxable income is R 10 090 351 (2020: R 11 266 821).

20. Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities

Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities - 2021

	Opening balance	Non-cash movements	Cash flows	Closing balance
Loans payable	3 567 061	348 144	(320 475)	3 594 730
Total liabilities from financing activities	3 567 061	348 144	(320 475)	3 594 730

Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities - 2020

	Opening balance	Non-cash movements	Cash flows	Closing balance
Loans payable	2 649 155	411 080	506 826	3 567 061
Total liabilities from financing activities	2 649 155	411 080	506 826	3 567 061

Ion Exchange Safic Proprietary Limited (Registration number 2002/009690/07)

(Registration number 2002/009690/07) Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2021

Notes to the Annual Financial Statements

	2021	2020
	R	R

21. Related parties

Relationships Parent company 40% shareholder	Ion Exchange India Limited Safic Proprietary Limited
Related party balances	
Loan accounts - Owing (to) by related parties	
Ion Exchange India Limited	(1 976 502) (1 780 638)
Safic Proprietary Limited	(1 618 228) (1 786 421)

The loans are unsecured and bear interest of 11% (2020: 12%) p.a and have no set terms of repayment.

The loans are subordinated in favour of other creditors until such time as the assets fairly valued exceed the liabilities.

The SAFIC Short term loan is unsecured and bears interest at FNB prime plus 6.5% up to July 2020 and from 24 July 2020 at Standard Bank prime plus 3.5%, paid by the earliest day of the following month whenever SAFIC claims.

Amounts included in trade receivables regarding related party Safic Proprietary Limited	38 561	-
Amounts included in trade payables regarding related parties Ion Exchange India Limited Safic Proprietary Limited	4 275 642 431 993	515 065 151 942
Related party transactions		
Sales to related party Safic Proprietary Limited	348 216	117 221
Purchases from related parties Ion Exchange India Limited Safic Proprietary Limited	11 965 194 449 039	5 280 094 259 258
Rent paid to related party Safic Proprietary Limited	115 921	170 090
Admin and management fees paid to related party Safic Proprietary Limited	255 835	201 337
Interest paid to related parties Ion Exchange India Limited Safic Proprietary Limited	195 864 152 978	190 788 220 290
Operational cost paid to related party Safic Proprietary Limited	441 959	-

Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2021

Notes to the Annual Financial Statements

22. Directors' emoluments

- Executive
- 2021

Directors' emoluments	Emoluments	Annual bonus	Other emoluments	Total
Services as director				
G Chakravorty	1 217 522		- 338 708	1 556 230

No other executive or alternate director received any remuneration from the company during the current year.

2020				
Directors' emoluments	Emoluments	Annual bonus	Other emoluments	Total
Services as director				
G Chakravorty	1 300 152	98 346	216 379	1 614 877

No other executive or alternate director received any remuneration from the company during the previous year.

Non-executive

2021

Directors' emoluments	Fees for services as director	Total
Services as director		
FC Platt	70 000	70 000

FC Platt did not receive any remuneration from the company during the previous year.

23. Financial instruments and risk management

Categories of financial instruments

Categories of financial assets

2021

	Notes	Amortised cost	Total	Fair value
Trade and other receivables	8	2 008 892	2 008 892	2 008 892
Cash and cash equivalents	9	336 604	336 604	336 604
		2 345 496	2 345 496	2 345 496

(Registration number 2002/009690/07)

Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2021

Notes to the Annual Financial Statements

23. Financial instruments and risk management (continued)

2020

	Notes	Fair value through profit or loss - Mandatory	Amortised cost	Total	Fair value
FEC asset: ROE revaluation	5	859 025	-	859 025	859 025
Trade and other receivables	8	-	3 748 146	3 748 146	3 748 146
Cash and cash equivalents	9	-	1 400 745	1 400 745	1 400 745
		859 025	5 148 891	6 007 916	6 007 916

Categories of financial liabilities

2021

	Notes	Amortised cost	Leases	Total	Fair value
Loans payable	11	3 594 730	-	3 594 730	3 594 730
Trade and other payables	12	11 508 579	-	11 508 579	11 508 579
Lease liabilities	13	-	681 313	681 313	681 313
Bank overdraft	9	5 000 000	-	5 000 000	5 000 000
		20 103 309	681 313	20 784 622	20 784 622

2020

	Notes	Amortised cost	Leases	Total	Fair value
Loans payable	11	3 567 061	-	3 567 061	3 567 061
Trade and other payables	12	11 968 385	-	11 968 385	11 968 385
Lease liabilities	13	-	849 895	849 895	849 895
Bank overdraft	9	5 000 000	-	5 000 000	5 000 000
		20 535 446	849 895	21 385 341	21 385 341

Capital risk management

The company's objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the company's ability to continue as a going concern in order to provide returns for shareholder and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.

Financial risk management

Overview

The company's activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk (including currency risk, fair value interest rate risk, cash flow interest rate risk and price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk

Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the company if a customer or counterparty to a financial instrument fails to meet its contractual obligations.

The company is exposed to credit risk on loans receivable (at amortised cost), trade and other receivables and cash and cash equivalents.

(Registration number 2002/009690/07) Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2021

Notes to the Annual Financial Statements

23. Financial instruments and risk management (continued)

Credit risk exposure arising on cash and cash equivalents is managed by the company through dealing with well-established financial institutions with high credit ratings.

Credit loss allowances for expected credit losses are recognised for all debt instruments, but excluding those measured at fair value through profit or loss. Credit loss allowances are also recognised for loan commitments and financial guarantee contracts.

In order to calculate credit loss allowances, management determine whether the loss allowances should be calculated on a 12 month or on a lifetime expected credit loss basis. This determination depends on whether there has been a significant increase in the credit risk since initial recognition. If there has been a significant increase in credit risk, then the loss allowance is calculated based on lifetime expected credit losses. If not, then the loss allowance is based on 12 month expected credit losses. This determination period. Thus the basis of the loss allowance for a specific financial asset could change year on year.

Management applies the principle that if a financial asset's credit risk is low at year end, then, by implication, the credit risk has not increased significantly since initial recognition. In all such cases, the loss allowance is based on 12 month expected credit losses. Credit risk is assessed as low if there is a low risk of default. When determining the risk of default, management consider information such as payment history to date, industry in which the customer is employed, period for which the customer has been employed, external credit references etc. Credit risk is not assessed to be low simply because of the value of collateral associated with a financial instrument. If the instrument would not have a low credit risk in the absence of collateral, then the credit risk is not considered low when taking the collateral into account. Trade receivables which do not contain a significant financing component are the exceptions and are discussed below.

Where necessary, the assessment for a significant increase in credit risk is made on a collective basis. Management typically adopt this approach when information relevant to the determination of credit risk is not available on an individual instrument level. Often, the only information available on individual instruments which could indicate an increase in credit risk, is "past due" information. It is typical that more forward-looking information is generally more readily available on a collective basis. Therefore, making the determination on a collective basis, helps to ensure that credit loss allowances are determined on the basis of lifetime expected credit losses before they reach the point of being past due. Forward looking, macro-economic information is applied on a collective basis when it is readily available without undue cost or effort. When loss allowances are determined on the basis of shared credit risk characteristics.

For trade receivables which do not contain a significant financing component, the loss allowance is determined as the lifetime expected credit losses of the instruments.

The maximum exposure to credit risk is presented in the table below:

		2021			2020	
	Gross carrying amount	Credit loss allowance	Amortised cost / fair value	Gross carrying amount	Credit loss allowance	Amortised cost / fair value
Trade and other receivables Cash and cash equivalents	2 510 661 336 604	(501 769)	2 008 892 336 604	4 168 968 1 400 745	(420 822)	3 748 146 1 400 745
	2 847 265	(501 769)	2 345 496	5 569 713	(420 822)	5 148 891

(Registration number 2002/009690/07)

Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2021

Notes to the Annual Financial Statements

23. Financial instruments and risk management (continued)

Liquidity risk

The company's risk to liquidity is a result of obligations associated with financial liabilities of the company and the availability of funds to meet those obligations. The company manages liquidity risk through an on-going review of future commitments and credit facilities.

Cash flow forecasts are prepared and adequately utilised borrowing facilities are monitored.

The table below analyses the company's financial liabilities and net-settled derivative financial liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining period at the statement of financial position to the contractual maturity date. The amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual undiscounted cash flows. Balances due within 12 months equal their carrying balances as the impact of discounting is not significant.

2021

	Less than 1 year	2 to 5 years	Total	Carrying amount
Non-current liabilities				
Loans payable	-	3 293 435	3 293 435	3 293 435
Lease liabilities	-	311 511	311 511	311 511
Current liabilities				
Short term portion of loan payable	301 295	-	301 295	301 295
Trade and other payables	11 508 579	-	11 508 579	11 508 579
Lease liabilities	447 553	-	447 553	447 553
Bank overdraft	5 000 000	-	5 000 000	5 000 000
	18 794 441	3 604 946	20 862 373	20 862 373

2020

	Less than 1 year	2 to 5 years	Total	Carrying amount
Non-current liabilities Loans payable	-	2 967 061	2 967 061	2 967 061
Current liabilities Short term portion of loan payable Trade and other payables Lease liabilities Bank overdraft	600 000 12 318 249 849 895 5 000 000	- - -	600 000 12 318 249 849 895 5 000 000	600 000 12 318 249 849 895 5 000 000
	18 418 280	2 967 061	21 735 205	21 735 205

(Registration number 2002/009690/07) Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2021

Notes to the Annual Financial Statements

0001	
2021	2020
R	R

23. Financial instruments and risk management (continued)

Foreign currency risk

The company is exposed to foreign exchange risk arising primarily with respect to the US dollar. Foreign exchange risk arises from commercial transactions in foreign currencies. The company manages its foreign exchange risk using forward exchange contracts, transacted with financial institutions. Foreign exchange risk arises when commercial transactions are denominated in a currency that is not the entity's functional currency.

The company enters into forward exchange contracts (FECs) to buy and sell specified amounts of foreign currency in the future at a predetermined exchange rate. The contracts are entered into to manage the company's exposure to fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates on specific transactions. The company does not use forward exchange contracts for speculative purposes.

Exposure in Rand

The net carrying amounts, in Rand, of the various exposures, are denominated in the following currencies. The amounts have been presented in Rand by converting the foreign currency amounts at the closing rate at the reporting date:

US Dollar exposure:

Current assets: Cash and cash equivalents	165	409 908
Liabilities: Contract	(9 263 600)	(9 258 849)
Net US Dollar exposure	(9 263 435)	(8 848 941)

Exposure in foreign currency amounts

The net carrying amounts, in foreign currency of the above exposure was as follows:

US Dollar exposure:

Current assets: Cash and cash equivalents	11	22 798
Liabilities: Contract	(621 297)	(591 951)
Net US Dollar exposure	(621 286)	(569 153)

Foreign currency sensitivity analysis

At 31 March 2021, if the Rand/dollar exchange rate had been 1% (2020: 1%) higher or lower during the year, with all other variables held constant, profit or loss for the year would have been R 92 634 (2020: R 106 433) higher or lower.

Interest rate risk

As the company has no significant interest-bearing assets, the company's income and operating cash flows are substantially independent of changes in market interest rates.

(Registration number 2002/009690/07) Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2021

Notes to the Annual Financial Statements

2021 2020	2021	2020
R R	R	R

24. Comparative figures

Certain comparative figures have been reclassified.

The effects of the reclassification are as follows:

Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income		
Other income	-	(44 408)
Finance income	-	44 408
	-	-

25. Going concern

As at 31 March 2021, the company had accumulated losses of R 11 089 443 and the company's total liabilities exceeded its assets by R 10 089 443.

Being aware that the company has an accumulated loss, it's going concern is dependant on a number of factors. The most significant of those factors being:

-Shareholders continue to provide financial support for the foreseeable future, which is not less than 12 months, to ensure settlement of debts, as and when they are due.

-The subordination agreement mentioned in these financial statements will remain in force for as long as it takes to restore the solvency of the company.

Ion Exchange Safic Proprietary Limited has secured an overdraft facility to the value of R 5 000 000 and will be renewable on an annual basis by ICICI.

Over and above Ion Exchange India Limited and SAFIC Propriety Limited commit (as per letter of support) to:

-Provide Ion Exchange Safic Proprietary Limited with the financial means to meet its obligations of completing the fixed assets commitments and operational cash requirements until cash break even.

-Arrange for Ion Exchange Safic Proprietary Limited commitments to its creditors, to be performed in a satisfactory way. -Exert full influence over Ion Exchange Safic Proprietary Limited as well as projects to repay all its creditors on maturity.

Covid-19

Companies globally have been affected by the outbreak of the COVID-19 virus, and Ion Exchange Safic Propriety Limited is no exception.

On 23 March 2020 the President of South Africa announced a lock down, of various levels, of the country for several months from 27 March 2020. In terms of which, all non-essential businesses ceased operations during this period. The products supplied by Ion Exchange Safic are classed as essential goods and serve in the provision of projects related to the provision of water. Management had implemented other measures to manage the risk to its people and business, including international business travel restrictions, self-quarantine for people displaying flu-like symptoms and comprehensive sanitation protocols and hygiene awareness campaigns. There is of course the possibility of further lockdowns and restrictions in the countries in which we have a presence and contingency plans are being formulated to deal with these potential eventualities. As a result, management believes that the company has sufficient shareholder and management support to withstand an interruption to our operations, notwithstanding this, we will continue to work towards minimising the impact of Covid-19 on our operations.

Management assessed the impact of the above on the cash flows of the company and, based on the available information, is satisfied that the group was still able to generate revenue during this period and has sufficient access to cash resources and facilities through arrangements with some of its suppliers and financiers to meet their obligations as and when they become due and payable. The shareholders will be advised of any new developments that may have a material effect on the operations of the group.

26. Events after the reporting period

The directors are not aware of any material event which occurred after the reporting date and up to the date of this report.

Ion Exchange Safic Proprietary Limited (Registration number 2002/009690/07) Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2021

Detailed Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

	N. /	2021	2020
	Notes	R	R
Revenue			
Sale of goods		19 883 932	15 732 777
Rendering of services		110 945	1 064 299
Discount allowed		(53 320)	(19 014)
	14	19 941 557	16 778 062
Cost of sales			
Opening stock		(4 423 249)	(2 808 472)
Purchases		(14 855 661)	(12 645 544)
Closing stock		7 305 367	4 423 249
		(11 973 543)	(11 030 767)
Gross profit		7 968 014	5 747 295
Other income			
Rental income		19 500	-
Bad debts recovered		460	-
CFC bank revaluation gain		103 976	139 202
Other income		4 200	-
Gain on exchange rate		-	438 327
Discount received		-	1
	15	128 136	577 530
Other operating gains (losses)			
Losses on disposal of assets		(471)	-
Foreign exchange gains (losses)		214 770	(780 020)
		214 299	(780 020)
Expenses (Refer to page 42)		(6 925 143)	(6 431 351)
Operating profit (loss)	16	1 385 306	(886 546)
Finance income	17	23 145	44 407
Finance costs	18	(1 339 905)	(1 433 098)
Profit (loss) before taxation		68 546	(2 275 237)
Income tax expense	19	161 766	114 210
Total comprehensive income (loss) for the year		230 312	(2 161 027)

Ion Exchange Safic Proprietary Limited (Registration number 2002/009690/07) Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2021

Detailed Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

	Note(s)	2021 R	2020 R
		ĸ	ĸ
Other operating expenses			
Advertising		(9 766)	(64 332
Auditors remuneration - external auditors		(159 399)	(176 920
BBBEE Enterprise and social development		(35 090)	-
Bad debts		(39 773)	(120 122
Bank charges including EXIM		(172 230)	(266 384
Commission/agency fees		(6 383)	(134 549
Computer expenses		(256 746)	(106 557
Conference/training		-	` (3 756
Consulting and professional fees		(68 506)	(39 694
Consumables		(250)	
Courier		(1778)	(6 017
Debtor payment differences		(10
Depreciation		(418 502)	(201 985
Donations - Non tax deductible		(429)	(500)
Employee costs		(4 837 415)	(4 062 241
Entertainment and meetings		(7 045)	(43 934
FG - Revaluation reserve w/off		(1 040)	(14 127
Financial services		(331 209)	(201 337
ISO projects		(001 200)	(1 000
Insurance		(76 040)	(66 792
		(147 555)	(243 629
Lease rentals on operating lease		(147 555)	53 743
Legal fees M/V hire		- (17 725)	
Mobile and land lines		(17 735)	(64 130
		(87 756)	(107 699
Motor vehicle expenses		(120 243)	(215 078
Municipal expenses		(5 777)	(58 829
Parking and toll fees		(10 070)	(22 437
Payroll commission		(27 786)	(17 074
Printing and stationery		(55 835)	(24 941
Product testing		(1 783)	(14 253
Protective clothing		(1 150)	(1 667
Repairs and maintenance		-	(55
Sales prizes and awards		-	(3 000
Secretarial fees		(5 000)	-
Staff refreshments		(2 872)	(7 305
Staff training		(10 369)	(660
Staff welfare including staff accomodation		(3 608)	(11 576
Stock FG adjustment write off		(13 687)	(35 492
Stock impairment		36 104	-
Subscriptions and membership fees		(17 700)	(12 397
Travel and accomodation		(11 760)	(134 635
		(6 925 143)	(6 431 351